ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ORDERING THE DEENDANT TO PAY 
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $46,592.00 WHERE THE 
RESTITUTION SOUGHT BY THE VICTIM IS FOR A LOSS THAT IS NOT 
CONTEMPLATED UNDER WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 61-11A-4, ET. SEQ, 
BASED UPON THE FACTS OF THE CASE. 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS AWARD OF RESTITUTION BY NOT 
CONSIDERING THE FINANCIAL RESOURCES OF THE DEFENDANT, 
AND THE FINANCIAL NEEDS AND EARNING ABILITY OF THE 
DEFENDANT AND THE DEFENDANT'S DEPENDENTS AS SET FORTH IN 
WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 61-11A-5. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This was a criminal proceeding before the Circuit Court of Jefferson County, with the 

Honorable Judge David Sanders (hereinafter referred to as "Judge Sanders"), presiding. 

Charity N. Bagent (hereinafter referred to as the "Appellant"), was indicted on January 

21, 2015, and charged in a five count indictment, to wit: Count One - Receiving/Transferring 

Stolen Property;- Counts Two and Five - Conspiracy; Count Three - Daytime Burglary; and 

Count Four - Petit Larceny. (See Appendix page 4). 

On April 20, 2015, the Appellant was convicted, pursuant to a plea agreement, on Count 

One: Transferring and Receiving Stolen Property; Count Three: Daytime Burglary; (See 

Appendix page 10). Pursuant to the terms of the plea agreement, Counts Two, Four and Five of 

the indictment were dismissed. 

On October 19, 2015, the Appellant was sentenced by the Court upon the conviction for 

Transferring and Receiving Stolen Property to an indeterminate term at a penitentiary of this 

State for a period of not less than one (1) nor more than ten (10) years; upon the conviction for 

Daytime Burglary to and indeterminate term at a penitentiary of this State for a period of not less 

than one (1) nor more than (10) years. Thus, the effective sentence on these two convictions is 

not less than one (1) nor more than ten (10) years, with credit for time served in the amount of 
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four (4) days. The Court Ordered that the sentences for Counts One and Three be served 

concurrently to one another. Moreover, the Court Ordered that imposition of all sentences shall 

be suspended and the Appellant placed upon supervised probation for a period of five (5) years, 

and pay restitution in the amount of $46,592.00 to the victim related to Count One (1) of the 

indictment. (See Appendix pages 13 and 15). On January 18, 2016, undersigned counsel filed a 

Motion to Reconsider Amended Order for Restitution, which motion has not yet been addressed 

by the lower court. (See Appendix page 17). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The issues that Appellant wishes to raise on appeal are 1) That the lower court was in 

error in ordering the Appellant to pay restitution in the amount of$46,592.00 for the victim's lost 

income where the restitution requested by the State on behalf of the victim was for lost income 

involving a criminal prosecution where the victim suffered no bodily injury or bodily injury that 

resulted in the victim's death, and where the victim's direct loss was his out-of-pocket payment 

of $500.00 for the deductible on his insurance claim, and where the victim testified that the 

tractor weights that were stolen had an approximate value of $6,000.00. The victim further 

testified that he had replaced the stolen tractor weights with new weights purchased from 

insurance proceeds; and 2) That the Court erred by not adequately considering the financial 

resources of the Appellant, the financial needs and earning ability of the Appellant, and the 

Appellant's dependents, pursuant to the applicable West Virginia Code Section; 3) Any other 

issues that this Court may determine are non-frivolous, and which may require further briefing. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Because the principle issues in this case have been authoritatively decided by the West 

Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals cases in State v. Lucas, 201 W. Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 

(1997); State v. Whetzel, 200 W. Va. 45,488 S.E.2d 45 (1997); and State v. Atwell, 234 W. Va. 
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293, 765 S.E.2d 182 (2014), oral argument under W.Va. R. App. P. II is not necessary unless 

the Court determines that other issues arising upon the record should be addressed. If the court 

determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 12 argument and 

disposition by memorandum decision. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ORDERING THE DEENDANT TO PAY 
RESTITUTION IN THE AMOUNT OF $46,592.00 WHERE THE 
RESTITUION SOUGHT BY THE VICTIM IS FOR A LOSS THAT IS NOT 
CONTEMPLATED UNDER WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 61-IIA-4, ET. SEQ, 
BASED UPON THE FACTS OF THE CASE. 

It is the position of the Appellant that the lower court erred in ordering the Appellant to 

pay restitution in the amount of $46,592.00 where the restitution sought by the State on behalf of 

the victim was for lost income in a criminal action where the victim suffered neither bodily 

injury nor died as a result ofbodily injury due to the commission of the crime. The basis for the 

lost income claim was that the victim's two industrial fann tractors were delayed in being 

employed during the pertinent plowing/planting season because the victim was waiting to receive 

and install a new set of tractor weights, which were purchased from insurance proceeds paid to 

the victim by his insurance carrier as the result of a claim filed. West Virginia Code § 61-IIA

4(b)(1) provides: 

The order shall require that the defendant (I) in the case of an 
offense resulting in damage to, loss of, or destruction ojproperty 
oj a victim oj the offense [emphasis added]: (A) Return the 
property to the owner of the property or someone designated by the 
owner; or (B) If return of the property under subparagraph (A) is 
impossible, impractical or inadequate, pay an amount equal to the 
greater of: (i) The value of the property on the date of sentencing; 
or (ii) the value of the property on the date of the damage, loss or 
destruction less the value (as of the date the property is returned) of 
any part of the property that is returned ... 
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Also, West Virginia Code § 61-11A-4(2) provides, "In the case of an offense resulting in 

bodily injury to a vi~tim: (C) Reimburse the victim for income lost by the victim as a result of 

the offense." Further, West Virginia Code § 61-11A-4(e) provides, 

The court shall not impose restitution with respect to a loss for 
which the victim has received or is to receive compensation, 
except that the court may, in the interests of justice, order 
restitution to any person who has compensated the victim for the 
loss to the extent that the person paid the compensation. 

In the instant case, the victim suffered no physical injury at all, but lost property in the 

form of forty-two (42) iron tractor "suit case" weights weighing approximately 110lbs each, 

which were stolen by the Appellant and taken to a metal recycling facility to trade for cash. The 

victim testified about the tractor weights at the restitution hearing. Q. "How many tractor 

weights were stolen?" A. "forty or 42, I can't remember. It has been two years ago." (See 

Appendix page 26, Lns. 15-17). The victim also testified as to the approximate value of the 

tractor weights that were stolen. Q. "what was the approximate value of the weights 

themselves?" A. "Around $6,000.00 ifI might be correct." (See Appendix page 26, Lns. 18-20). 

The victim also testified as to his lost income. Q. "Mr. Moler, I am handing you what has 

been marked as Attachment A and I will ask the clerk to mark it ... Do you recognize that?" A. 

"Yes." Q. "What is that?" A. "it is what we prepared of our lost times of acres planted and days 

calculating the rain and a total." Q. "What was the total amount you calculated in damages?" A. 

"$46,592." (See Appendix page 27, Lns. 15-24). During the victim's testimony above, the 

victim refreshed his recollection of his lost income calculation by reviewing a hand written 

memo prepared by the victim outlining such loss. This memo outlined that he had two tractors 

out of commission for thirteen (13) days awaiting new tractor weights, and that each of his 

tractors could plow sixty-four (64) acres per day, and he would be paid at the rate of $28.00 per 
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plowed acre, so that this resulted in 1,664 unplowed acres multiplied by the acre-rate for a total 

unrealized income of $46,592.00. (See Appendix page 21). Finally, the victim testified 

regarding obtaining replacement tractor weights with insurance proceeds, and what his out-of

pocket loss was in relation thereto. Q. "... So did they pay you cash or did they replace the 

weights themselves?" A. "They [the insurance carrier] wrote me a check and then I ordered the 

weights." Q. "so your out-of-pocket expense, again, for this?" A. "$500.00." (See Appendix 

page 30, Lns. 3-10). 

Thus, it is clear that the victim lost no income due to a physical injury resulting from the 

commission of the crime, and that the victim's only direct loss in this matter was the $500.00 the 

victim paid out-of-pocket for the deductible to his insurance carrier on the claim filed for the lost 

tractor weights. Further, the victim testified that the approximate value of the stolen tractor 

weights was $6,000.00, and that the victim received a check from his insurance carrier in an 

amount sufficient to replace all of the tractor weights that were stolen. The Court below did not 

order restitution to the third-party insurance carrier who may have paid out up to $6,000.00 to 

replace the stolen weights, and thus the Appellant asserts that the restitution in this case should 

be limited to the $500.00 out-of-pocket deductible payment paid by the victim to his insurance 

carrier, and not $46,592.00 in lost income where the victim's lost income was not related to 

missed employment or health care costs due to physical injury as a result of the crime 

committed. 

Further, in his calculation regarding his lost income due to the property theft, the victim 

included time lost to inclement weather in the form of rain. It appears that the days lost to rain 

were included to reach the total of thirteen (13) days that his commercial farm tractors were not 

earning income. Consider the victim's testimony: Q. "What is that?" A. "It is what we prepared 
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for our lost times of acres planted and the days calculating the rain [emphasis added], and a 

total." Q. "Did anything else occur with the weather that would further affect your ability to 

plant at that time?" A. "We had a few days of rain [emphasis added] in there." (See Appendix 

page 27, Lns. 15-24 and Lns. 2-4). The Appellant asserts that, even if this Court finds that 

Appellant is liable for restitution for lost income in a non-physically-injured victim case, 

Appellant should not be held accountable for restitution related to inclement weather which kept 

the victim from plowing fields. 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS AWARD OF RESTITUTION BY NOT 
ADEQUATELY CONSIDERING THE FINANCIAL RESOURCES OF THE 
DEFENDANT, AND THE FINANCIAL NEEDS AND EARNING ABILITY OF 
THE DEFENDANT AND THE DEFENDANT'S DEPENDENTS AS SET 
FORTH IN WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 61-11-A-5. 

The Appellant asserts that the lower Court erred in ordering Appellant to pay $46,592.00 

as restitution where that Court did not give adequate consideration to the factors enumerated in 

West Virginia Code § 61-11A-5, in essence giving short-shrift to Appellant's testimony and 

arguments at the restitution hearing. 

West Virginia Code § 61-11A-5(a) provides that: 

The court, in determining whether to order restitution under this 
article, and in determining the amount of such restitution, shall 
consider the amount of the loss sustained by any victim as a result 
of the offense, the financial resources of the defendant, the 
financial needs and earning ability of the defendant and the 
defendant's dependents, and such factors as the court deems 
appropriate. 

Further, West Virginia Code § 61-11A-5(d) provides, in pertinent part: 

Any dispute as to the proper amount or type of restitution shall be 
resolved by the court by the preponderance of the evidence. The 
burden of demonstrating the amount of the loss sustained by the 
victim as a result of the offense shall be on the prosecuting 
attorney. The burden of demonstrating the financial resources of 
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the defendant and the financial needs of the defendant and such 
defendant's dependents shall be on the defendant. 

At the restitution hearing, Appellant testified that she was currently twenty-four (24) 

years old, was the mother of three minor children from two different fathers, neither of which 

paid child support. Appellant also testified that she lived with her mother, and relied upon her 

family and the State of West Virginia to support her and her children because she was 

unemployed. Appellant further testified that she dropped out of high school during the 9th grade 

due to pregnancy, and that she did not obtain a G.E.D. The Appellant testified that she had no 

marketable job skills, other than waitressing. The Appellant testified that she had worked two 

jobs in her life, one as hostess for a diner/waitress for a very brief period, and the second job 

working for a carnival, briefly. The Appellant testified that she attended special education 

classes while still in school. The Appellant testified that she did not own an automobile. The 

Appellant testified that she had a serious liver ailment related to her drug addiction, and that she 

is now a felon. 

The lower court made the following analysis in its ruling upon the issue of restitution: 

Well, as the prosecutor says, this is an extremely stark situation 
where we have a hard working farmer who follows the seasons and 
plows his own fields, does custom work for others, that Ms. Bagent 
in the company of others went out and took all of the tractor 
weights necessary for Farmer Moler to do his job. I guess they 
took them to one of our local metal fencing operations and turned 
them into some quick cash for some drugs presumably for a great 
discount so that she could keep her addiction going. .. The fact 
that she got pregnant in the ninth grade and dropped out, had three 
kids, has a serious liver condition, no job prospects, is a felon, 
those are all the kind of things that are just going to burden and 
stigmatize her life in a way that is going to be extremely difficult 
to overcome. Mr. Moler through his own hard work is able to at 
least keep his head above and continue working. The fact that Ms. 
Bagent is in the circumstances that she is doesn't mean that - Mr. 
Moler didn't choose to be a victim, he didn't choose to lose all of 
this, it was lost as a heroin addiction reached out and touched his 

7 




fann and his livelihood. The whole issue about whether or not 
what happens to Ms. Bagent if she doesn't pay this, whether she is 
incarcerated as a result of, becomes a condition of probation, or if 
it becomes a joint and several judgment against her, that is for 
another date. That is a future argument [emphasis added]. 
(See Appendix pages 43-44). 

In the last two sentences of the lower court's ruling, supra, that court clearly states that 

the issue of what will happen to the Appellant if she is unable to pay the restitution as ordered is 

a question for another day, and the Appellant asserts this is a clear indication that the lower court 

did not consider the relevant factors in detennining the· scope of restitution, because such was an 

issue for another date, a future date. 

Moreover, the lower court's analysis of what the scope of restitution should be in 

Appellant's case did not take into consideration the financial needs and earning ability of the 

Appellant and the Appellant's dependents as there is no mention of these considerations in the 

court's ruling or in the Amended Order of Restitution. In support of this assertion, the Appellant 

looks to the court's discussion of Appellant's testimony regarding her means of making 

restitution: 

The fact that she got pregnant in the ninth grade and dropped out, 
had three kids, has a serious liver condition, no job prospects, is a 
felon, those are all the kind of things that are just going to burden 
and stigmatize her life in a way that is going to be extremely 
difficult to overcome. (See Appendix page 44, Lns. 6-11). 

Appellant asserts that the lower court's ruling, rather than being a considerate analysis of 

her ability to pay an enonnous amount of restitution, merely suggests that Appellant either 

brought all of this on herself, and, therefore deserves what she gets, or that it is simply her bad 

luck that she is bogged down in poverty. While the Appellant acknowledges that the 

circumstances that ultimately resulted in her being before the court in this matter were 

circumstances of her own creation, the Appellant was due a fair hearing upon the issue of 
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restitution where the court was to conduct an analysis of the Appellant's economic ability to pay 

a given amount of restitution. 

In Syllabus Point 1 of State v. Atwell, 234 W. Va. 293, 765 S.E.2d 182 (2014), this Court 

held: 

Under W. Va. Code 61-11A-l through 8 and the principles 
established in our criminal sentencing jurisprudence, the circuit 
court's discretion in addressing the issue of restitution to crime 
victims at the time of a criminal defendant's sentencing is to be 
guided by a presumption in favor of full restitution to victims, 
unless the circuit court determines by a preponderance of the 
evidence that full restitution is impractical, after consideration of 
all the pertinent circumstances, including the losses of any victims, 
the financial circumstances of the defendant, and the defendant's 
family, the rehabilitative consequences to the defendant and any 
victims, and such factors as the court may consider. (Syl. Pt. 3, 
State v. Lucas, 201 W. Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997). 

In addition to the scant treatment by the lower court of Appellant's testimony and 

argument at the restitution hearing, the lower court's Amended Order of Restitution gave equally 

short-shrift to the Appellant's testimony and argument. For example, the Amended Order of 

Restitution sets forth: 

The victim testified regarding his losses in the total amount of 
$46,592. Defense counsel advised that the defendant does not 
have a job or any job skills and relies solely on her family and the 
state for support. The State argued that the victim in this matter 
did not choose to be a victim and that the defendant's drug 
addiction affected the victim's livelihood. (See Appendix page 22). 

The Appellant in this case is indigent, and is the mother of three children whose fathers 

do not pay child support. She has limited education, and no job skills that could easily result in 

gainful employment. The Appellant is now a felon, which is a question asked on every 

employment application. The Appellant is a poor candidate for employment. The West Virginia 

legislature has even recognized the difficulty that felons face in finding employment, and has 
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introduced legislation that, if enacted into law, would make it possible for felons to expunge 

certain non-violent felony convictions. The Appellant asserts that is clear from the record that 

the lower court gave little or no consideration to Appellant's financial circumstances, the 

circumstances of the Appellant's family and dependants, or the rehabilitative consequences to 

the Appellant. 

CONCLUSION 

In the case at bar, not only was the victim inappropriately ordered to receive restitution 

for lost income in a case where there was no lost income due to the physical injury of the victim 

related to the commission of the crime, the lower court compounded this error by failing to 

analyze the Appellant's socio-economic circumstances as such would relate to her ability to 

make restitution in the amount of $46,592.00. The Appellant respectfully requests this 

Honorable Court consider the arguments herein, and reverse and remand this case as the Court 

deems necessary, just, and proper. 

DA~ESQUIRE
West Virginia Bar No.: 10224 
Counsel for Petitioner