ALLEGED ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


A. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it ordered restitution for lost earnings, rather than 
solely out-of-pocket expenses. 

B. 	 The Circuit Court erred when it ordered restitution but failed to adequately take 
into account the financial resources of the Petitioner.

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

See Syllabus Point 2, State v. Atwell, 234 W.Va. 293, 765 S.E.2d 182 (2014). 

In the case sub judice, at the sentencing hearing the circuit court, guided by the 

presumption in favor of an award of full restitution, ordered such full restitution of $46,592, 

reflecting the entirety of the victim's losses, including economic losses in the form of lost 

income. A.R. 14. The court then held a contested restitution hearing with testimony from both 

the victim and Petitioner. Following that contested hearing the Court affirmed its earlier 

restitution order in the Amended Restitution Order. During its ruling at the restitution hearing, 

the Court articulated the factors it considered in determining the amount of the loss sustained by 

any victim as a result of the offense including: (1) the victim's loss ofa critical thirteen day 

period for seasonal planting, during which time others were able to perform custom work 

planting which, absent the theft of his tractor weights, would have benefitted the victim; (2) the 

financial resources of the Petitioner, which were negligible at the time of sentencing because the 

Petitioner was unemployed and had been so for essentially her entire adult life; (3) the financial 

needs of the Petitioner, which appear to be entirely satisfied by government assistance and 

family, including the raising of her children by her mother; (4) and earning ability of the 
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defendant, which despite being limited by her education, was in reality limited by the Petitioner's 

failure to secure and maintain any employment throughout her adult life; and other factors the 

court deemed appropriate including, (5) the Petitioner's drug addiction which led her and her co

defendants to steal the victim's tractor weights and in the words of the Court, to take them to 

"our local metal fencing operations and tum[ ] them into some quick cash for some drugs, 

presumably for a great discount so that she could keep her addiction going." A.R. 43:24 - 44:3. 

The Circuit Court properly considered all those factors in determining the amount of 

restitution it ordered the Petitioner to pay, and further attempted to "do all that is possible" to 

assist the victim who lost substantial earnings as a result of being a victim of crime. 

Further, this Court wrote in State v. Whetzel, 200 W.Va. 45, 48, 488 S.E.2d 45, 48 

(1997), that: 

This Court believes that the clear intention of the Legislature in 
enacting W.Va.Code § 61-11A-4(a) was to enable trial courts to 
require convicted criminals to pay all losses sustained by victims 
in the commission of the crime giving rise to the conviction. Any 
other interpretation would run counter to the legislative intent that 
"all that is possible" be done, an intent set forth in W.Va. Code § 
61-11A-l(b). 

Emphasis added. This Court's unequivocal statement that all losses sustained by victims should 

be subject to restitution has not been changed in the nearly twenty years since Whetzel was 

decided. Under that unambiguous conclusion, the circuit court properly determined that all 

losses sustained by the victim, including his lost earnings, were appropriately the subject of a 

restitution order. 
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II. 	 The Circuit Court properly considered the factors influencing an award of 
restitution including the financial resources of the Petitioner. 

The Petitioner claims that the circuit court failed to consider her indigency and financial 

resources when it ordered full restitution. Although the State contends the circuit court did 

consider those factors, as discussed more fully below, in Lucas, supra, this Court has already 

considered whether indigency is a complete bar to ordering payment of restitution. Syllabus 

Point 4 ofLucas holds: 

For purposes of determining whether or what amount of restitution 
may be entered as a judgment against a defendant at the time of a 
criminal defendant's sentencing pursuant to W Va. Code, 61-11 A
4(a) [1984], the indigency of a defendant or the current ability or 
inability of a defendant to pay a given amount of restitution is not 
necessarily determinative or controlling as to the practicality of an 
award of restitution. If the court determines that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a defendant may be able to pay an 
amount of restitution, the court, upon consideration and weighing 
of all pertinent circumstances, is permitted but not required to 
determine that an award of restitution in such an amount is 
practical. 

Lucas clearly holds that indigency alone is not determinative regarding the practicality of 

ordering restitution. Here, the court found that the Petitioner was indigent but that she chose to 

drop out of school, chose to have children, chose not to work, and chose to commit felony 

offenses. These factors, all within the control of the Petitioner led to her indigency. Thus such 

an award was permissible. 

Further, a review of the circuit court docket in the case demonstrates that for an entire 

year from the date of her conviction on April 20, 2015 to the date the docket sheet was printed on 

April 20, 2016, the Petitioner failed to make a single restitution payment in any amOlmt. A.R.2 

- 3. As her testimony showed, the Petitioner has had limited to no employment during her 
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lifetime, and relied on others, including family and the government, to support her financially. 

Moreover, the Petitioner presented no evidence to suggest that she was in any way disabled or 

incapable of employment, simply that she was unemployed, and in fact, had never been gainfully 

employed for any meaningful time period. Such a refusal to attempt to work or pay any amount 

of restitution, no matter how trivial, shows the Petitioner is at least unwilling to pay restitution, 

but not that she is unable to do so. The Petitioner did not testify regarding any unsuccessful 

attempts to work or obtain work, or any limited payments of restitution, rather she and her 

counsel merely advanced the argument that because she was unemployed and a drug addict 

entirely reliant upon others for financial resources, food and shelter, that accordingly she could 

not make restitution. However, the facts underlying such an argument represent the opposite 

conclusion: that the Petitioner has made no affirmative attempts to pay any amount of restitution 

or support herself. Accordingly, the circuit court considered the Petitioner's ability to pay, and 

lack of attempt to obtain any employment as part of its restitution ruling. 

In Lucas this Court also addressed whether such an order of restitution is impractical: 

The question then arises, what does "impractical" mean, in the 
context of a restitution order? To address this question, we will 
first look at the term "impractical" as it is more generally used.? 
This Court has recognized that the word "impractical" does not 
necessarily mean the same thing as "impossible. 

201 W.Va. at 278, 496 S.E.2d at 478. The Court concluded, that, "the statute calls for 

consideration of (1) the victim's losses, (2) the defendant's financial circumstances, and (3) such 

other factors as the court may choose to consider. The Act also states that the court should 

endeavor to be fair to the victim and at the same time not unduly complicate or prolong the 

sentencing. " 
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The court here considered the victim's substantial losses caused by no fault of his own, 

but entirely by the Petitioner and her co-defendants, and the Petitioner's ability to pay restitution. 

Her ability to pay could be considered entirely unknown because she has refused to ever obtain 

gainful employment. Many individuals with less than a high school degree maintain 

employment of some type. However, the Petitioner has never managed to have more than two 

short-term jobs, one of which lasted less than two weeks. By contrast, the victim lost two of his 

most lucrative weeks of work for the entire season because of the Petitioner's criminal acts. 

Further, the restitution ordered by the court is neither impractical nor impossible. The 

award of $46,592 in restitution is jointly and severally liable with two co-defendants. A.R. 22. 

If each were to pay a one third share of that amount, each would owe approximately $15,530. 

Thus, over a five year period of probation, the Petitioner would be responsible for approximately 

$3,100 per year, or $60 per week. Such an amount is not unreasonable, impractical or 

impossible. Even at the current minimum wage rate of $8.75 per hour, the Petitioner would be 

capable of making such payments by working approximately seven hours per week. However, 

she has worked zero hours and made zero payments of restitution since being convicted of the 

offense more than a year ago. 

Lucas further cited to earlier decisions of this Court regarding appropriateness of 

restitution: 

In Fox v. State, 176 W.Va. 677, 682, 347 S.E.2d 197,202 (1986), 
this Court stated: 

[I]t is generally held that even in the absence of statute, the 
sentencing court may not order restitution without first inquiring 
into and determining on the record the offender's ability to pay. 

We stated in Fox that a probationer's restitution payment is 
unreasonable "if it is beyond the offender's ability to pay without 
undue hardship to himself or his family." Syllabus Point 1, in 
part, Fox, supra. Payment causing undue hardship occurs when 
"after the deduction of the [payment] from a person's wages 
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enough money [does not] remain to meet ordinary and necessary 
expenses with something left over for unforeseen expenses and 
some discretionary spending." Cottrell v. Public Finance 
Corporation, 163 W.Va. 310, 316,256 S.E.2d 575,580 (1979). To 
avoid undue hardship, the payment required must not be so much 
as to "make it impossible for the debtor to provide for the 
family." Id. 

Petitioner here has argued that she has no resources and thus is incapable of paying restitution, 

however, she concedes that she has no money of her own to meet her ordinary and necessary 

expenses, and instead relies upon family and government aid to support herself. She also 

concedes that she lives with her mother who helps care for her children. A.R. 35:16 - 36:1. The 

concerns of Fox are not applicable here as the Petitioner currently provides no support to her 

family, but instead is a burden on their resources. Because she provides no funds to her family, 

except food stamps-which her children would qualify for regardless of whether they resided 

with her or their grandmother-the order of restitution does not place any undue hardship on the 

Petitioner's family. 

In Lucas, this Court identified two primary reasons that the amount of restitution should 

be reasonable and not impose undue hardship upon a convicted defendant, specifically to 

promote offender rehabilitation, and to comply with the constitutional guarantees of due process 

and equal protection. 201 W.Va. at 280, 496 S.E.2d at 230. The Court explained: 

Restitution can aid an offender's rehabilitation by strengthening the 
individual's sense of responsibility. The probationer may learn to 
consider more carefully the consequences of his or her actions. 
One who successfully makes restitution should have a positive 
sense of having earned a fresh start and will have tangible evidence 
of his or her capacity to alter old behavior patterns and lead a law
abiding life. Conditioning probation on making restitution also 
protects the community'S interest in having the victims of crime 
made whole .... 
Thus, "[r]estitution imposed in a proper case and in an appropriate 
manner may serve the salutary purpose of making a criminal 
understand that he has harmed not merely society in the abstract 
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but also individual human beings, and that he has a responsibility 
to make them whole. 

The Petitioner here may yet learn to carefully consider the consequences of her actions, but it 

appears that she has managed to avoid consequences and responsibilities for much of her adult 

life. Restitution here further serves the interest of having the victim of the Petitioner's crime 

made whole, and thus full restitution is entirely appropriate. 

Simply because the Petitioner was indigent at the time of sentencing, or because her 

ability to pay full restitution is questionable does not mean that the defendant may never be 

ordered to pay it. As this Court recognized in Lucas: 

"A restitution order will be upheld if the evidence indicates a 
defendant has some assets or earning potential and thus 
possibly may be able to pay the amount ordered." [Quoting United 
States v. Rogat, 924 F.2d 983, 985 (loth Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 
499 U.S. 982, 111 S.Ct. 1637, 113 L.Ed.2d 732 (1991).] 

We agree with the proposition set out in Rogat to the effect that 
there can be circumstances in which an offender's present 
indigency or questionable ability to pay a given amount of 
restitution does not render a restitution award in such an amount 
necessarily impractical. ... [T]he court might conclude from 
evidence in the record that there is a reasonable possibility that 
such means or ability would arise in the future-for example, from a 
defendant's future earnings, a prospective inheritance, or other 
possible improvement in a defendant's fortunes. 

201 W.Va. at 281 - 2, 496 S.E.2d at 231 - 2. As noted above, the amount of restitution while 

viewed on its face may seem high, when viewed as ajointly and severally liable amount payable 

over five years, it is eminently reasonable and practicable for any person, even one with minimal 

employment to pay. 

The Petitioner argues that she may be incarcerated if she fails to pay restitution to the 

victim, thereby failing to meet one of the conditions of her probation. However, the United 

States Supreme Court has previously addressed this issue and determined that such a revocation 
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ofprobation is inappropriate absent other factors. In Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 103 

S.Ct. 2064, 76 L.Ed.2d 221 (1983), the Supreme Court recognized its earlier ruling in Williams 

v. Illinois, 399 U.S. 235, 90 S.Ct. 2018,26 L.Ed. 2d 586 (1970) that "a State cannot subject a 

certain class of convicted defendants to a period of imprisonment beyond the statutory maximum 

solely because they are too poor to pay the fine." The Court extended its Williams ruling in Tate 

v. Short, 401 U.S. 394, 91 S.Ct. 668,28 L.Ed.2d 130 (1971), holding "a State cannot convert a 

fine imposed under a fine-only statute into a jail term solely because the defendant is indigent 

and cannot immediately pay the fine in full." Bearden, 461 U.S. at 664. In Bearden the issue 

was "whether a sentencing court can revoke a defendant's probation for failure to pay the 

imposed fine and restitution, absent evidence and findings that the defendant was somehow 

responsible for the failure of that alternative forms of punishment were inadequate." 461 U.S. at 

665. The Bearden court analyzed the issue under due process and equal protection principles and 

concluded that: 

If the probationer has willfully refused to pay the fine or 
restitution when he has the means to pay, the State is perfectly 
justified in using imprisonment as a sanction to enforce 
collection. See ALI, Model Penal Code § 302.2(1) (Proposed 
Official Draft 1962). Similarly, a probationer's failure to make 
sufficient bona fide efforts to seek employment or borrow 
money in order to pay the fme or restitution may reflect an 
insufficient concern for paying the debt he owes to society for 
his crime. In such a situation, the State is likewise justified in 
revoking probation and using imprisonment as an appropriate 
penalty for the offense. But if the probationer has made all 
reasonable efforts to pay the fine or restitution, and yet cannot 
do so through no fault of his own,2 it is fundamentally unfair to 
revoke probation automatically without considering whether 
adequate alternative methods of punishing the defendant are 
available. This lack of fault provides a "substantial reaso[ n] 
whichjustifie [s] or mitigate[s] the violation and makers] 
revocation inappropriate." Gagnon v. Scarpelli, supra, 411 U.S., 
at 790, 93 S.Ct., at 1764. 10 Cf.zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374, 
400,98 S.Ct. 673, 688,54 L.Ed.2d 618 (1978) 
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461 U.S. at 669 -70. Thus, pursuant to the Supreme Court's ruling in Bearden, should the 

Petitioner fail to pay restitution and have good cause why she was incapable of paying such 

restitution, it would be unconstitutional to revoke the Petitioner's probation solely on the grounds 

that she was too poor to pay court-ordered restitution. However, should the State be able to 

demonstrate that the Petitioner had means to pay, or failed to make sufficient bona fide efforts to 

seek employment or borrow money in order to pay the restitution, then the circuit court 

would be able to revoke the Petitioner's probation for failure to pay restitution. To date, the 

Petitioner has not made any payments of restitution, and nothing in the record suggests that 

she has made any bona fide efforts to seek employment or borrow funds to pay her 

restitution. However, neither is she subject to a petition to revoke her probation based on a 

failure to pay restitution. This is merely a straw argument raised by Petitioner to suggest that 

the court may in future violate her constitutional rights. As such an issue is not mature, if is 

not appropriate for this court to consider at this time. 
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CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, and because the circuit court's sentencing 

order and order of restitution, do not violate statutory or constitutional commands, those orders 

should be granted deference consistent with the holding of Syllabus Point 1 of State v. Lucas, 

supra, the Respondent requests that this Court DENY the Petition for Appeal and AFFIRM the 

decision ofthe circuit court.